IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
V. : 97- CR- 14

ALVA KULP,

CHARLES CARTWRI GHT, and

M CHAEL REGAN

VEMORANDUM

Br oderick, J. July 30, 1997

Presently before the court are the post-trial notions of
def endants Alva Kul p, Charles Cartwight, and M chael Regan for
judgnment of acquittal pursuant to Rule 29(c) of the Federal Rules
of Crimnal Procedure. Defendant Regan al so noves in the
alternative for a newtrial pursuant to Federal Rule of Crim nal
Procedure 33. For the reasons stated hereinafter, the court wll
deny the post-trial notions of each defendant.

The indictment in this case was filed on January 9, 1997
agai nst nine prison guards fromthe Del aware County Prison,
| ocated in Thorton, Pennsylvania -- Alva Kulp, Jam e Canpbell,
Charles Cartwight, Anthony Mettimano, Joseph lanncelli, M chae
Regan, Patrick Quigley, Joseph Gaw, and Eric Rich.

Count one charges Anthony Mettimano and Charles Cartwi ght
with the deprivation of inmate Robert Taylor's Ei ghth Amendnent
rights under color of law, 18 U S.C. 8§ 242, and aiding and
abetting, 18 U S.C. 8 2, in connection with the alleged beating
by the defendants of Taylor on March 16, 1994.

Count two charges Alva Kulp, Charles Cartwight, Jam e



Canmpbel I, Joseph lanncelli, Anthony Mettinmano, and M chael Regan
wWith the deprivation of prison inmate Ronald Seaton's Ei ghth
Amendnent rights under color of law, 18 U S.C. 8§ 242, and aiding
and abetting, 18 U S.C. § 2, in connection with the all eged
beating by the defendants of Seaton on April 16, 1994.

Count three charges Joseph lanncelli, Anthony Mettinmano, and
Patrick Quigley with the deprivation of prison innmate Wnfield
Jones' Eighth Anmendnent rights under color of law, 18 U S.C. §
242, and with aiding and abetting, 18 U S.C. 8§ 2, in connection
with the all eged beating by the defendants of Jones on May 28,
1994.

Count four charges Alva Kulp, Charles Cartwight, Jame
Canmpbel |, Joseph Gaw, and Eric Rich wwth the deprivation of
i nmat e Kennet h Hawki ns' (a/k/a "Kenny Powel |") Ei ghth Anendnent
rights under color of law, 18 U . S.C. § 242, and aiding and
abetting, 18 U S.C. 8 2, in connection wth the alleged beating
by the defendants of Hawkins on July 20, 1994.

Count five charges M chael Regan wth nmaking a fal se
decl aration before the grand jury on February 1, 1996, in
violation of 18 U S.C. § 1623.

Count six charges M chael Regan with meking a fal se
decl aration before the grand jury on February 8, 1996, in
violation of 18 U S.C. § 1623.

Soon after the January 9, 1997 filing of the indictnment in
this case, defendants Anthony Mettimano, Joseph I|anncelli

Patrick Quigley, Joseph Gaw, and Eric Rich pled guilty before
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this court to each count of the indictnent with which they were
char ged.

The remai ni ng defendants -- Alva Kul p, Jam e Canpbel |,
Charles Cartwight, and Mchael Regan -- went to trial conmencing
on April 4, 1997. Each of the five prison guards who pled guilty
testified as governnment wi tnesses at trial.

The jury returned with its verdict on April 17, 1997 finding
as follows: As to defendant Kulp, the jury found himguilty on
count two and not guilty on count four. As to defendant Charles
Cartwight, the jury found himguilty on count one, guilty on
count two, and not guilty on count four. As to defendant Jam e
Canmpbel |, the jury found himnot guilty on count two and not
guilty on count four. As to defendant M chael Regan, the jury
found himnot guilty on count two, guilty on count five, and not

guilty on count six.

Sunmary of the evidence presented at trial

As to count one of the indictnent, the evidence presented at
trial may be summarized as follows: In the evening of March 16,
1994, defendant Cartwight, a corporal by rank, along wth fell ow
prison guards John dick and Anthony Mettimano went to the
prison's "A-block" to |locate inmate Robert Taylor. The guards
had received information that Taylor, who was an inmate suffering
psychiatric problens, had not taken his prescribed nedication.

It was the guard's intention to escort Taylor to the prison's

infirmary so that his nedication could be adm nistered. As the
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t hree guards approached i nmate Tayl or, defendant Cartwi ght
informed himthat they intended to escort himto the infirmry
for his nmedication. Taylor then punched defendant Cartwight in
the face. Immediately, the guards westled inmate Taylor to the
ground and handcuffed him

The guards escorted inmate Taylor out of the A-block into
the "center-control" area of the prison. Testinony was presented
by prison guard dick that inmate Tayl or was under control and
was not acting in a threatening manner while he was being
escorted into the center-control area. dick further testified
t hat upon entering the center-control area, "Corporal Cartwight
punched M. Tayl or through the door onto the ground, on the
center floor," and that while Taylor was |ying on the floor
handcuf fed, "Corporal Cartwight began to kick M. Taylor on the
ground.” Gick testified that the kicks to inmate Tayl or were
not necessary to restrain Taylor or to protect other prison
guar ds.

Soon after defendant Cartwight ceased ki cking him Tayl or
was escorted out of the center-control area to the prison's
infirmary. Once in the infirmary, inmate Tayl or was dragged
along the floor to an isolation cell. CGuard Mettimano testified
at trial that both he and defendant Cartwight repeatedly kicked
i nmate Tayl or as they were dragging himto the isolation cell.
Mettimano testified that the kicks to Taylor were not necessary
to restrain Taylor or to protect other guards.

Mor eover, prison guard Patrick Quigley testified that once
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the guards placed inmate Taylor face down in the isolation cell,
he saw defendant Cartwight standing over Taylor "hitting him
with a short portion of the PR-24 [baton] in his back" and
yelling, "you want to hit nme now?" Guard Quigley testified that
the bl ows adm ni stered by defendant Cartwight were not necessary
to restrain Taylor or to protect the other prison guards.

As to count two of the indictnent, the evidence presented at
trial may be summarized as follows: In the evening of April 16,
1994, defendant Cartwight ordered defendant Canpbell to tell the
inmates in the prison's "Cdayroont to turn down the vol une of
the television set. Defendant Canpbell then yelled to the
inmates that they nust turn down the volume of the tel evision
set. The inmates, however, ignored Canpbell's orders. Defendant
Cartwight then wal ked into the C dayroom and ordered the dayroom
cl osed. He then ordered defendant Canpbell to turn off the
tel evision set, which Canpbell did.

Soon thereafter, inmate Ronal d Seaton began arguing with
def endant Canpbell and struck Canpbell in the face. Several
guards, including guards lanncelli and Regan, westled i nmate
Seaton to the ground and handcuffed him They escorted Seaton
out of the C-dayroom lanncelli testified that while escorting
Seat on out of the dayroomand into the center-control area,
Seaton was handcuffed and under control. However, |anncell
noted that Seaton did appear to be resisting the efforts to
control him

Once inmate Seaton was escorted into the center-contro
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area, the guards forced himto the ground. Wile on the ground,
Seat on began kicking at the guards. Guard lanncelli then rolled
Seaton onto his stomach and knelt on his back. Despite Seaton's
attenpts to resist, lanncelli testified that he had conplete
control over the inmate.

Def endants Kul p, Cartwight, Canpbell, Regan, and Metti mano
were all present in the center-control room Defendant Kulp, a
i eutenant by rank, ordered another guard to retrieve | eg-
shackl es to be placed on Seaton. Defendant Kul p then passed out
PR- 24 batons and ordered the guards to strike inmate Seaton on
the back of his legs. lanncelli testified that he saw def endant
Kul p, as well as several other guards, sw nging their PR-24
batons at Seaton. lanncelli specifically testified that he saw
def endant Regan swing his PR-24 and nake contact w th Seat on.

Guard Mettimano testified that defendant Kulp wal ked up to
himand said, "that's not how you hit an inmate. This is how you
hit an inmate," and that defendant Kul p took a two-handed sw ng
striking Seaton several times. Guard Mettimano testified that
defendant Kulp's blows to i nmate Seaton were not necessary to
restrain himor to protect the other guards.

Prison guard Al Pleasant testified that he heard defendant
Cartwight yell, "you don't hit any of my fucking officers.”
Pl easant testified that he then saw defendant Cartwight Kkick
i nmate Seaton on the right side of his body, while Seaton was
pi nned on the ground by lanncelli. Guard Pleasant testified that

defendant Cartwright's kick to Seaton did not appear necessary to
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restrain Seaton or to protect the other guards.

Guard Pl easant testified that defendant Regan was standi ng
next to himwhen defendant Cartwi ght kicked Seaton. Soon
thereafter, inmate Seaton was shackl ed and taken up to the prison
infirmary. After receiving treatnment at the infirmry, Seaton

was escorted back downstairs to the Behavi or Mddification Unit

("BMJ'). Seaton was still handcuffed and shackl ed and, according
to lanncelli's testinony, he was cal mand was not posing a threat
to the other guards. lanncelli testified that while Seaton was

bei ng escorted fromthe infirmary, defendant Kul p approached
Seaton and struck himfrombehind with his PR 24 baton
lanncel li testified that defendant Kulp's blow to Seaton was not

necessary to restrain Seaton or to protect the other guards.

The defendants' notions for judgnent of acquittal pursuant
to Rule 29(c)

Each defendant -- Alva Kulp, Charles Cartwight, and M chael
Regan -- noves the court for judgnent of acquittal pursuant to
Federal Rule of Crimnal Procedure 29. |In determning a notion

for judgnment of acquittal on the grounds of insufficient

evi dence, the court nust uphold a verdict of guilty if, view ng
the evidence introduced at trial in the |ight nost favorable to

t he governnent, a reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty
beyond a reasonabl e doubt of every el enent of the offense.

United States v. Terselich, 885 F.2d 1094, 1097 (3d G r. 1989).




Count _one: the beating of inmate Tayl or

The jury found defendant Cartwight guilty on count one,

whi ch charged the deprivation of inmate Robert Taylor's Eighth

Amendnent rights under color of lawin violation of 18 U S.C. 8§

and with aiding and abetting the deprivation of inmte

Robert Taylor's Ei ghth Amendnent rights, in violation of 18
US C § 2

As to count one, the court charged the jury as foll ows:
The essential elenents of the crine of 8 242 which the
Gover nnent nust prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt before you
may find Defendant Cartwight guilty of violating 8§ 242 are:
1. t hat Defendant Cartw i ght deprived i nmate Robert
Tayl or of his Eighth Anendnment right to be free
from cruel and unusual punishnent; and
2. t hat Defendant Cartwight acted willfully; and

3. t hat Def endant Cartw i ght acted under col or of
| aw.

Wth regard to the first elenent of a § 242 violation, the

court charged the jury as foll ows:

The first elenment the Governnent nust prove beyond a
reasonabl e doubt is that Defendant Cartwight deprived

i nmat e Robert Tayl or of his Ei ghth Anendnent rights to be
free fromcruel and unusual punishnment; that is, the right
to be free fromthe unnecessary and wanton infliction of
pain. . . . \Wuere a prison guard undertakes the use of force
to resolve a disturbance, it is the Jury's duty to determ ne
whet her the force used by the prison guard was applied by
himin a good faith effort to maintain or restore discipline
or was applied by himmaliciously and sadistically for the
pur pose of causing harmto the inmate. Force that is
applied upon an inmate by a prison guard in a good faith
effort to maintain or restore discipline does not violate
the inmate's Ei ghth Amendnent rights. However, force that
is applied by the prison guard naliciously and sadistically
for the purpose of causing harmto the inmate, violates the
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inmate' s Ei ghth Anmendnent rights.
See Hudson v. MM Ilian, 503 U.S 1, 7, 112 S. C. 995, 999 (1992);

Wiitley v. Al bers, 475 U.S. 312, 320-21, 106 S .. 1078, 1085

(1986) .
Moreover, with regard to the second el enent of a § 242
violation, the court instructed the jury as follows:

To act willfully neans to act voluntarily and intentionally
and with the specific intent to do sonething the | aw forbids
or with the specific intent to fail to do sonething the | aw
requires. . . . To establish specific intent, the Governnent
nmust prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt that Defendant
Cartwight harbored the specific intent to deprive inmate
Robert Taylor of his Eighth Amendnent right to be free from
t he unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain. Specific
intent is established if the Governnent has proved that

Def endant Cartwight acted in open defiance or reckless

di sregard of inmate Robert Taylor's Ei ghth Amendnent right
to be free fromthe unnecessary and wanton infliction of

pai n.

See United States v. Johnstone, 107 F.3d 200 (3d Gr. 1997).

The court further charged the jury with respect to the § 2
ai ding and abetting charge in count one as foll ows:

As | previously stated, the second | aw with which
Def endant Cartwight is charged in count one is aiding and
abetting in violation of 8 2 of Title 18 U S.C. . .
However, you need not consider the crine of aiding and
abetting as to Defendant Cartwight if you determ ne that
t he Governnent has proved beyond a reasonabl e doubt that
Def endant Cartwight violated 8 242, as to inmate Robert
Tayl or.

In order to find Defendant Cartwight guilty of aiding
and abetting under 8§ 2, the Governnent nust prove beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that Defendant Cartwi ght aided and abetted
some other prison guard in depriving i nmate Robert Tayl or of
his Ei ghth Amendnent rights and that Defendant Taylor did so
know ngly and intentionally with the intent to deprive the
inmate of his Ei ghth Amendnent rights.

As the court's summary of the evidence relating to count one



shows, the governnent produced nore than sufficient evidence from
whi ch a reasonable jury could find beyond a reasonabl e doubt that
def endant Cartwright deprived innmate Robert Taylor of his Eighth
Amendment rights, in violation of 8§ 242, or that defendant
Cartwight aided and abetted the deprivation of inmate Robert
Tayl or's Eighth Anendnent rights, in violation of § 2. Evidence
was presented through the testinony of prison guard dick that
upon entering the center-control area, "Corporal Cartwi ght
punched M. Tayl or through the door onto the ground, on the
center floor," and that while Taylor was on the floor handcuffed
"Corporal Cartwight began to kick M. Taylor on the ground."”
Gick testified that defendant Cartwight's punch and ki cks were
not necessary to restrain Taylor or to protect the other prison
guar ds.

Mor eover, evidence was presented that defendant Cartwi ght
repeatedly kicked inmate Tayl or as he was being dragged to an
isolation cell in the prison infirmary, and that these kicks were
not necessary to restrain inmate Taylor or to protect other
guards. Evidence was presented that once the guards pl aced
inmate Taylor face down in the isolation cell in the prison
infirmary, defendant Cartwight stood over inmate Taylor "hitting
himw th a short portion of the PR-24 [baton] in his back" and
yelling, "you want to hit nme now?" Cuard Quigley testified that
the bl ows adm ni stered by defendant Cartwight were not necessary
to restrain inmate Taylor or to protect other prison guards.

Accordingly, the court finds that the governnent produced
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nore than sufficient evidence fromwhich a reasonable jury could
find, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, defendant Cartwight guilty on

count one.

Count two: the beating of inmate Ronald Seaton

The jury found defendants Cartwight and Kulp guilty on
count two, which charged defendants Kul p, Canpbell, Cartwight,
and Regan with the deprivation of inmate Ronald Seaton's Ei ghth
Amendment rights under color of law, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
242, and with aiding and abetting the deprivation of innate
Ronal d Seaton's Ei ghth Amendnent rights, in violation of 18
US C 8 2. As heretofore pointed out, the jury found defendants
Canmpbel | and Regan not guilty on count two.

As the court's summary of the evidence relating to count two
shows, the governnent produced nore than sufficient evidence from
whi ch a reasonable jury could find beyond a reasonabl e doubt that
defendants Cartwight and Kul p deprived i nnmate Ronal d Seat on of
his Ei ghth Amendnent rights, in violation of 8§ 242, or that
defendants Cartwight and Kul p ai ded and abetted the deprivation
of inmate Ronald Seaton's Eighth Anendnent rights, in violation
of § 2.

As to defendant Cartwight, evidence was presented that
def endant Cartw i ght kicked inmate Seaton on the right side of
hi s body, while Seaton was handcuffed on the ground, and that
Cartwight yelled, "you don't hit any of my fucking officers.”

GQuard Pl easant testified that defendant Cartwight's kick to
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Seaton did not appear necessary to restrain Seaton or to protect
ot her guards. Moreover, there was testinony that Cartwight was
present in the center-roomwhile the beating of inmate Seaton by
several guards with PR-24s was taking place.

As to defendant Alva Kul p, evidence was presented that
def endant Kul p joined the other guards in the control-center room
in swnging their PR-24 batons at inmate Seaton, while Seaton was
handcuffed and |ying on the ground. Guard Mettimano testified
t hat defendant Kul p wal ked up to himand said "that's not how you
hit an inmate, this is how you hit an inmate," and that defendant
Kul p then took a two-handed swi ng striking Seaton several tines
with his PR-24 baton. Guard Mettinmano testified that defendant
Kul p's blows to Seaton were not necessary to restrain himor to
protect other guards.

Mor eover, guard lanncelli testified that later in the
evening, while inmate Seaton was being escorted across the floor
of the center-control area to the BMJ, defendant Kul p approached
Seaton and struck himfrombehind with his PR 24 baton
lanncel li testified that defendant Kulp's blow to Seaton was not
necessary to restrain Seaton or to protect the other guards.

Accordingly, the court finds that the governnment presented
nore than sufficient evidence fromwhich a reasonable jury could
find, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, defendants Cartwight and Kul p

guilty on count two.

Count five: defendant Regan's false declaration to the grand jury
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As heretofore pointed out, the jury found defendant Reagan
guilty on count five, which charged himw th nmaking a fal se
decl aration before the grand jury on February 1, 1996.
Specifically, the jury found beyond a reasonabl e doubt that
def endant Regan violated 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1623 by responding "No" to
the follow ng question presented to himbefore that grand jury:
"Did you ever see any physical abuse of that prisoner [Ronald
Seaton] while you were in center."”

In charging the jury in connection with count five, the
court stated:

In order to prove that Defendant Regan violated § 1623, the

Gover nnent nust prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt each of the

foll owi ng essential elenents of § 1623:

1. t hat Def endant Regan testified under oath before a
federal grand jury on February 1, 1996; and

2. t hat Def endant Regan made a fal se materia
decl aration, as set forth in count five, during
that grand jury testinony; and

3. t hat Def endant Regan knew that the declaration, as
set forth in count five, was fal se when he gave
the testinony before the grand jury.

See United States v. Reilly, 33 F.3d 1396 (3d Cir. 1994); United

States v. Slawik, 548 F.2d 75 (3d Gr. 1977).

As the court's summary of the evidence shows, the governnent
presented nore than sufficient evidence fromwhich a reasonable
jury could find beyond a reasonabl e doubt that defendant Regan
know ngly made a fal se material declaration before the grand jury
on February 1, 1996. The evi dence shows that defendant Regan was

present in the center-control area when i nmate Ronal d Seat on
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lying on the floor handcuffed, was being struck with PR 24 batons
by the guards. Furthernore, the evidence shows that defendant
Regan hinself struck inmate Seaton with a PR 24 baton. Regan was
al so standing in the roomwhen Cartwight kicked Seaton on the
right side of his body, while Seaton was |ying handcuffed on the
ground and under the control of guard Ilanncelli.

Accordingly, the court finds that the government presented
nore than sufficient evidence fromwhich a reasonable jury could
find, beyond a reasonabl e doubt, defendant Regan guilty on count
five.

In the alternative, defendant Regan contends that he is
entitled to a newtrial on the ground that the court erred in

refusing to instruct the jury as foll ows:

Def endant Regan's Request No. 1.

M chael Regan is charged in Count Five of the
indictment wth know ngly making a fal se materi al
decl aration under oath, by testifying before the grand jur
that he did not see any prison correctional officers infli
physi cal abuse on inmate Ronal d Seaton while Seaton was in
Center. "Physical abuse,” in this context, neans conduct
t hat amounts to cruel and unusual punishnent.

Force that is inflicted maliciously and sadistically
for the very purpose of causing harmconstitutes cruel and
unusual punishnent and thus a violation of the Ei ghth
Amendment. It is not unlawful for corrections officers to
use force to maintain or restore discipline. Further, not
every nal evol ent touch by a corrections officer violates the
Ei ghth Anendnent. |In the prison setting, where corrections
officers are permtted by law to exercise sone force on
inmates, it is reasonable for a corrections officer not to
take note of force that does not rise to the level of a

y
ct

constitptional yiolation. It is al so reasonabl e for a
corrections officer to believe that lawful force is not
"abuse. "

Further, the grand jury was charged with taking
evi dence of alleged crimnal acts by corrections officers
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toward prison inmates. Conduct that does not constitute
cruel and unusual punishnment in violation of the Eighth
Amendment is not such a crimnal act. For a statenent
before the grand jury to constitute perjury, it nust be
material to the grand jury's investigation. Statenents
concerning conduct that is not crimnal are not materi al
statenents.

Therefore, if you find that the conduct of correctional
officers toward i nmate Seaton while he was in Center did not
constitute cruel and unusual punishnment, then this conduct
cannot be considered to be physical abuse.

The court rejected defendant Regan's proposed jury
instruction primarily because of its |engthy explanation
concerni ng what constitutes cruel and unusual punishnent under
the Ei ghth Amendnent, particularly in view of the fact that the
court carefully instructed the jury on cruel and unusual
puni shnment in charging the jury as to the elenents of the § 242
violations alleged in counts one, two, and four. |n connection
Wi th counts one, two, and four, the court instructed the jury as
fol |l ows:

Wiere a prison guard undertakes the use of force to resolve

a disturbance, it is the Jury's duty to determ ne whet her

the force used by the prison guard was applied by himin a

good faith effort to maintain or restore discipline or was

applied by himmaliciously and sadistically for the purpose
of causing harmto the inmate. Force that is applied upon
an inmate by a prison guard in a good faith effort to

mai ntain or restore discipline does not violate the inmate's

Ei ghth Anendnent rights. However, force that is applied by

the prison guard naliciously and sadistically for the

pur pose of causing harmto the inmate, violates the inmate's

Ei ght h Anendnent rights.

In charging the jury as to count five of the indictnent, the
court properly and concisely instructed the jury as foll ows:

Count five charges Defendant Regan with making a false
decl aration before the grand jury on February 1, 1996, in

violation of § 1623 of Title 18 U . S.C., which provides in
rel evant part:
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Whoever under oath . . . in any proceeding before . :
any court or grand jury of the United States know ngly
makes any false material declaration . . . shall be
[guilty of an offense against the United States].

In order to prove that Defendant Regan violated § 1623,
t he Governnent nust prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt each of
the follow ng essential elenents of § 1623:

1. t hat Def endant Regan testified under oath before a
federal grand jury on February 1, 1996; and

2. t hat Def endant Regan nmade a fal se material declaration,
as set forth in count five, during that grand jury
testinony; and

3. t hat Def endant Regan knew that the declaration, as set
forth in count five, was fal se when he gave the
testinony before the grand jury.

As to the first element of § 1623, the evidence is
uncontroverted that Defendant Regan testified before a
federal grand jury on February 1, 1996.

As to the second el enent, the Governnment has the burden
of proving beyond a reasonabl e doubt that the Defendant's
answer of "No" to the question: "Did you see any physi cal
abuse of that prisoner [Ronald Seaton -- count two] while
you were in center” was a false material declaration. A
declaration is material if it has a tendency to influence,

i npede, or hanper the grand jury frompursuing it's
i nvesti gati on.

As to the third elenent of 8§ 1623, the Governnent has
t he burden of proving beyond a reasonabl e doubt that
Def endant Regan knew that the declaration, as set forth in
count five, was fal se when he gave the testinony before the
grand jury.

As | have already explained to you, an act is done
"knowingly" if it is done voluntarily and intentionally, and
not because of m stake or accident.

Therefore, if you determ ne that the Governnent has
proved beyond a reasonabl e doubt each of the essenti al
el ements of 8§ 1623:

1. t hat Def endant Regan testified under oath before a
federal grand jury on February 1, 1996; and

2. t hat Def endant Regan nmade a fal se material declaration,
as set forth in count five, during that grand jury
testinony; and

3. t hat Def endant Regan knew that the declaration, as set
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wil |

forth in count five, was fal se when he gave the
testinony before the grand jury,

THEN you nust find Defendant Regan QU LTY as to count five
of the indictnment, provided it is the unani nous answer of
the Jury.

|f, on the other hand, you determ ne that the
Governnent has failed to prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt any
one of the essential elenents of § 1623:

1. t hat Def endant Regan testified under oath before a
federal grand jury on February 1, 1996; or

2. t hat Def endant Regan nmade a fal se material declaration,
as set forth in count five, during that grand jury
testinony; or

3. t hat Def endant Regan knew that the declaration, as set
forth in count five, was fal se when he gave the
testinony before the grand jury,

THEN you nust find Defendant Regan NOT GUILTY as to count
five of the indictnent, provided it is the unani nbus answer
of the Jury.

Concl usi on

Accordingly, for the reasons heretofore set forth, the court

deny the post-trial notions of defendants Al va Kul p, Charles

Cartwright, and M chael Regan.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA

V. : 97- CR 14
ALVA KULP, :
CHARLES CARTWRI GHT, and
M CHAEL REGAN

ORDER

AND NOW this 30th day of July, 1997; for the reasons stated
in the court nenorandum of July 30, 1997;

| T 1S ORDERED: The post-trial notions of defendant Al va Kul p
for judgnment of acquittal are DEN ED;

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED: The post-trial notions of defendant
Charles Cartwight for judgnent of acquittal are DEN ED;

| T IS FURTHER ORDERED: The post-trial notions of defendant

M chael Regan for judgnment of acquittal, or in the alternative

for a newtrial, are DEN ED.

RAYMOND J. BRODERI CK, J.
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